

# Determinants of private sector growth in Vanuatu

Lynette Ragonmal Reserve Bank of Vanuatu Parmendra Sharma Griffith University Jen-Je Su Griffith University



### GRIFFITH UNIVERSITY-SOUTH PACIFIC CENTRAL BANKS JOINT POLICY RESEARCH WORKING PAPER SERIES

Griffith Asia Institute

Griffith University–Reserve Bank of Vanuatu JPRWP#17



# Griffith Asia Institute

### Griffith University–South Pacific Central Banks Joint Policy Research Working Paper Series

Determinants of private sector growth in Vanuatu

Lynette Ragonmal<sup>a</sup>, Parmendra Sharma<sup>bc</sup>, Jen-Je Su<sup>bc</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Reserve Bank of Vanuatu <sup>b</sup> Department of Accounting, Finance and Economics, Griffith University <sup>c</sup> Griffith Asia Institute, Griffith University

### About the Griffith Asia Institute

The Griffith Asia Institute (GAI) is an internationally recognised research centre in the Griffith Business School. We reflect Griffith University's longstanding commitment and future aspirations for the study of and engagement with nations of Asia and the Pacific.

At GAI, our vision is to be the informed voice leading Australia's strategic engagement in the Asia Pacific—cultivating the knowledge, capabilities and connections that will inform and enrich Australia's Asia-Pacific future. We do this by: i) conducting and supporting excellent and relevant research on the politics, security, economies and development of the Asia-Pacific region; ii) facilitating high level dialogues and partnerships for policy impact in the region; iii) leading and informing public debate on Australia's place in the Asia Pacific; and iv) shaping the next generation of Asia-Pacific leaders through positive learning experiences in the region.

### About this publication

The Joint Policy Research Working Paper Series endeavours to disseminate the findings of work in progress to academics, governments and the public at large to encourage the exchange of ideas relating to the development of the South Pacific financial sector and thereby national economic growth and development. The papers carry the names of the authors and should be cited accordingly. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this paper are entirely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the partner Bank or Government.

Disseminating findings quickly, even if work is still in draft form, is expected to encourage early and wider debate.

This joint Reserve Bank of Vanuatu—Griffith University working paper is part of an ongoing extensive research capacity building program led by Griffith University for the South Pacific central banks.

The texts of published papers and the titles of upcoming publications can be found on South Pacific Centre for Central Banking page on the Griffith Asia Institute website: <a href="https://www.griffith.edu.au/asia-institute/our-research/south-pacific-centre-central-banking">www.griffith.edu.au/asia-institute/our-research/south-pacific-centre-central-banking</a>

'Determinants of private sector growth in Vanuatu', Griffith University–South Pacific Central Banks Joint Policy Research Working Paper No. 17, 2020.

### About the Authors

#### Lynette Ragonmal

Ms Lynette Ragonmal is a Senior Economist Real Sector Unit in the Economic and Research Department of the Reserve Bank of Vanuatu and worked 15 years in the central bank. She has a Master of Commerce and Management from Lincoln University and a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of the South Pacific. Her areas of research interests include researching on issues in the real sector, financial development and economic development.

#### Parmendra Sharma

Dr Parmendra Sharma is a senior lecturer and the program convenor of the South Pacific Centre for Central Banking at Griffith University. His publications are beginning to fill the huge vacuum in the literature relating to South Pacific's financial sector, including on issues such as determinants of bank interest margins, profitability and efficiency. His recent publications include Factors influencing the intention to use of mobile value-added services by women-owned micro enterprises in Fiji), Microfinance and microenterprise performance in Indonesia (International Journal of Social Economics), A first look at the trilemma vis-à-vis quadrilemma monetary policy stance in a Pacific Island country context, (Review of Pacific Basin Financial Markets Policy), Mobile value added services in Fiji: Institutional drivers, industry challenges and adoption by women micro entrepreneurs (Journal of Global Information Management) and Bank reforms and Efficiency in Vietnamese Banks: Evidence based on SFA and DEA (Applied Economics).

#### Jen-Je Su

Dr Jen-Je Su is a Senior Lecturer in the Department of Accounting, Finance and Economics at Griffith University. He has training in economics and econometrics and significant experience in econometric modelling. Before joining Griffith, he had worked in several academic institutions across Taiwan, USA, and New Zealand. Dr Su has published intensively in the areas of time-series econometrics, international finance, economic development and tourism in academic journals.

### Contents

Abstract	5
1. Introduction	6
2. Data, variables and methods	7
2.1. Data	7
2.2 Variables	7
3. Empirical results and discussions	.10
3.1 Unit root results	.10
3.2 Cointegration results	.11
3.3 Results of the short-run dynamic model	.11
3.4 Results of the long run ARDL model	.16
4. Conclusion and Policy Implications	.18
Notes and references	.19

## Abstract

What factors should policy-makers be looking at in enhancing private sector growth in the uniquely located and characterised small island economies of the Pacific is the central question this study aims to unravel. The dispersed and other uniqueness of the region might lead one to wonder if these factors might be different from elsewhere. Using the case of Vanuatu, an ARDL model and data covering the 1983-2015 period, the study finds that in the short run the main drivers are public investment, real exchange rate, and structural reforms; and in the long run, the drivers are political stability, public investment, credit supply to the private sector, real exchange rate and structural reforms. Consistent with few studies done in the Pacific region, the high user cost of capital, natural disasters affecting economic performance, and uncertainties are important obstacles to domestic private investment growth in Vanuatu. Policies easing credit constraints, facilitating infrastructure development, offering investment incentives, reducing macroeconomic and political uncertainties, and developing structural reforms in the economy will spur private sector growth in Vanuatu.

Keywords: private sector growth, Vanuatu

### 1. Introduction

It would be hard, rather, extremely difficult to imagine an economy, small or large, developing or developed, achieving or aspiring to achieve sustainable economic growth and poverty reduction without the critical role of the private sector. Indeed, empirical evidence supports a stronger private-sector-led economic growth compared to public investment, attributing the rationale mainly to relative greater efficiency of the former (Coutinho and Gallo, 1991; Serven and Solimano, 1990; Bouton and Sumlinski, 2000; and Khan and Kumar, 2008). A dynamic private sector then would appear necessary for promoting inclusive growth resulting in positive and meaningful outcomes for formal employment, investment, and entrepreneurship, especially so for the climate-change affected, small, open, remote, vulnerable, growth- and poverty-challenged Pacific Island Countries (PICs).

Nonetheless, across the PICs, private sector growth has been anything but dynamic. For example, in the period 2012 to 2015, the average gross investment to GDP ranged from 28.2% to 26.4%. Elsewhere, in the middle-income countries, the World Bank income group which most PICs fall into, the average for the same period was 31.7% (World Bank, 2020). The foregoing then begs the question: what factors should policy-makers be looking at in enhancing private sector growth in the region. Given the aforementioned uniqueness of the region, one might also wonder if these factors might be different from elsewhere. We attempt to answer this question by looking at the case of Vanuatu as an initial test; we intend to do the same for other PICs as relevant data becomes available. In the case of Vanuatu, the average gross investment to GDP ratio in the 2012–2015 period was 25.5%, compared to 28.5% in other lower-middle-income countries that Vanuatu falls into.

A small manufacturing base, a narrow range of exports, and high dependence on imports for food, mineral fuels, capital goods, and transport machinery describe the overall macroeconomic setting of Vanuatu. Export includes primary products, copra, coconut oil, cocoa, kava, beef, fish, and timber. The country is heavily subsistence-oriented and the communally-owned land tenure system appears to discourage the development of private sector land-based activities (Jayaraman, 2004). With a population of 280,000, Vanuatu is placed in the middle per the size spectrum of the PICs, led by Papua New Guinea, Fiji, and Solomon Islands. Two-thirds of the population reside in rural areas engaging in subsistence farming and supplementary cash crop production.<sup>1</sup> The service sector makes up almost 60 per cent of the country's Gross Domestic Product (GDP) and is heavily concentrated in the two urban centres of Port Vila and Luganville. The services sector encompasses tourism, financial, retail trade, transport, real estate, telecommunication, government services, and professional services. The country has no exchange control regulations in place and offers special tax benefits to investors.

The study uses private gross fixed capital formation to GDP as the dependent variable, a number of explanatory variables<sup>2</sup> and an ARDL model to investigate the short- and long-term relationships over the 1983-2015 period. Result shows public investment, real exchange rate and structural reforms have a complementary effect on private investment in the short-run. In the long run, political stability associated with good investment climate, public investment, credit supply to the private sector, real exchange rate and macroeconomic environment associated with structural reforms support private investment growth, however the higher user cost of capital discourages private investment.

The rest of the study is organised as follows. Section 2 presents the data, variables, and methods used in this study. Section 3 presents the empirical results and discussion. Section 4 concludes with some policy implications.

6 Joint Policy Research Working Paper #17

### 2. Data, variables and methods

### 2.1. Data

We investigate the private sector growth in Vanuatu over the period 1983 to 2015 using private gross fixed capital formation as an indicator of private investment. The annual time-series data on this dependent variable is obtained from the World Bank database and Vanuatu National Statistics Office (VNSO) through the reports on Vanuatu National Accounts. The rest of the data relating to the independent variables was also obtained from VNSO, the country central bank (Reserve Bank of Vanuatu—RBV), World Bank, and IMF International Financial Statistics.

### 2.2 Variables

#### Dependent variable

Our dependent variable is domestic private investment (RDPI) defined as private gross fixed capital formation. This variable is widely used by several pieces of literature on private sector studies specifically for developing economies (Jayaraman, 1996; Jayaraman and Seruvatu, 2001; Ang, 2010; Frimpong and Marbuah, 2010).

#### Independent variables

Based mainly on literature, the independent variables for this study include the following: real GDP(RGDP), user cost of capital defined as real interest rates (RIR), availability of credit defined as real bank credit to the private sector (RCRE), real public investment (RPUBI), real foreign direct investment (RFDI), and real exchange rate (RER) (Jorgenson, 1963; Bouton and Sumlinski, 2000; Jayaraman, 1996; Jayaraman and Seruvatu, 2001; Ang, 2010; Frimpong and Marbuah, 2010; Kolade, 2014; Jamaludin et al., 2015; and Batu, 2016). We also include macroeconomic stability (MAC\_STAB), defined as a composite index of variation in the inflation rate, real GDP growth, and exchange rate following the study by Ang (2010). The political stability (POL\_STAB) variable is specifically included in the model to supplement the impact of uncertainty on the investment climate. And finally, a dummy variable (D) indicating structural reform (2004–2008) was included to indicate the impact of periods of particular reform impacting on private sector activities.

Real GDP is selected to accommodate the neoclassical theory of flexible accelerator (Jorgenson, 1963). Investors' anticipations are proxied by one lag period of the real GDP growth rate as an indicator of aggregate demand conditions in the economy. Investors envision the future environment as a growth rate observed in the past, thus investors tend to invest if they see favourable economic growth. Likewise, the observed growth in private domestic investment in the past will also determine investors' willingness to invest and ascertain profitability in their investment plans. This variable is expected to have a positive coefficient.

The model also incorporates the real interest rate to capture the effective user cost of capital. A higher user cost of capital discourages private sector growth. A negative sign of the coefficient is expected. The availability of financing is proxied by the credit to the private sector. Increasing the availability of financing provides capital for private sector investment projects. This indicator is expected to have a positive impact on domestic private investment.

Determinants of private sector growth in Vanuatu

Public sector investment can constitute a complementary (crowding-in) effect on private sector growth through the provision of key infrastructures (transport, telecommunications, etc). However, public investment may also have a substitute (crowding-out) effect on private investment through competition for scarce resources (such as skilled labour, raw materials, etc). Therefore, the expected sign is ambiguous and can be either positive or negative.

The effect of Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) could also be positive or negative. Similar to public investment, the increase in FDIs can have a complementary (crowding-in) effect where foreign firms bring in technologies, improved skills, and financial resources that support the growth of private domestic firms. On the other hand, the crowding-out effect can be seen in the competition of scarce resources and where the increase in the technological gap between two firms is not adequately transferred.

The real exchange rate can influence private investment as it is one of the main components that determine the real cost of imports. A (domestic) currency devaluation can have a negative impact via increases to the real cost of purchasing imported capital goods, thereby reducing the profitability of the private sector and causing private domestic investment to decline. On the other hand, currency devaluation can have a positive impact on sectors producing exportable goods. So, the effect of the real exchange rate is ambiguous and can be either negative or positive.

Macroeconomic stability is an important aspect of the investment climate of a country. Here a composite index of the volatility in real GDP growth, inflation, and real exchange rate movements is constructed to indicate the macroeconomic stability of the country. Higher-level macroeconomic stability is appropriate for investments creating a high level of certainty surrounding the return on investment projects. High volatility in the inflation rate, real GDP growth, and exchange rate increases the risk and profitability associated with the long-term investment project. Economic volatility can lead investors to seek profit opportunities in short-term portfolio investments, therefore may not contribute to long-term growth as per the accelerator model (Ang, 2010). Therefore, macroeconomic stability is likely to have a positive effect on domestic private investment.

Stability is not limited to macroeconomic indicators. This study also considers political stability which is a very important aspect influencing investment decisions. An increase in political stability (or associated events supporting stability) increases the certainty of investment projects. The changes in government decisions of the rule of the game create a high level of uncertainty and are an obstacle affecting the progress in investment projects and improvement of investment growth. Political stability has a positive effect on domestic private investment.

Structural reform is an important determinant of the actual and future profitability of private investment. Trade reforms, financial reforms, or specific sector reforms (such as increased competition in the banking sector, the aviation sector, and the communication sector) has a positive effect on domestic private investment. This openness increases competitiveness and provides access to new options (or engine) of growth. These factors provide favourable conditions for domestic (as well as FDIs) investment firms to invest. Structural reform has a positive effect on domestic private investment.

#### Methodology

Given that this study aims to incorporate several determinants, the empirical specification is derived using the neoclassical model. The ARDL model is presented as follows:

$$y_t = \beta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^p \beta_i y_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{q_1} \delta_{1i} x_{1,t-i} + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{q_8} \beta_{8,i} x_{8,t-i} + \gamma D_t + \epsilon_{t}, (1)$$

where y=lnRDPI, x1=lnRGDP, x2=lnRIR, x3=lnRCRE, x4=lnRPUBI, x5=lnRFDI, x6=lnRER,  $x7=MAC_STAB$ ,  $x8=lnPOL_STAB$ , D=dummy indicator of structure reform, and  $\epsilon$ t is a serially independent error term. The lag specification in (1) is chosen by the Akaike Information Criterion. Equation (1) can be represented in an error correction format:

$$\Delta y_t = \beta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{p-1} \beta_i \Delta y_{t-i} + \sum_{i=1}^{q_1-1} \delta_{1i} \Delta x_{1,t-i} + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{q_8-1} \beta_{8,i} \Delta x_{k,t-i} + \gamma D_t + \theta_0 y_{t-1} + \theta_1 x_{1,t-1} + \dots + \theta_8 x_{8,t-1} + \epsilon_t.$$
(2)

The Bound testing strategy of Pesaran and Shin (1999) and Pesaran et al. (2001) is based on the usual Wald (F) test for the null hypothesis HO:  $\Theta O = \Theta 1 = ... = \Theta 8 = 0$ . The Bound testing procedure is given as follows: if the test statistic (F) exceeds the upper bound significance level, the null hypothesis is rejected, and potentially there is a long-run relationship between y and x1,...,x8; if the F is below the lower bound significance level, the null hypothesis is not rejected and there is no long-run relationship; if F is between the two (lower & upper bound) significance level, the test is inconclusive.

### 3. Empirical results and discussions

The results are split into two models: Model A includes macroeconomic stability using fluctuation in a composite index of GDP growth, inflation, and real effective exchange rate, and Model B includes political stability using extrapolated data from the World Bank database.

### 3.1 Unit root results

### Table 1. Unit root tests

ADF Test					
Level		First Difference		Conclusion	
	Constant	Trend & Intercept	Constant	Trend & Intercept	
RDPI <sub>t</sub>	-1.933	-2.04	-4.874***	-4.7812***	l(1)
RGDPt	0.770	-2.053	-3.945***	-3.990***	l(1)
RIR <sub>t</sub>	-8.085***	-7.739***	-10.268***	-9.933***	I(0) / I(1)
RCRE <sub>t</sub>	2.327	-0.986	-3.440***	-4.886***	l(1)
RPUBI <sub>t</sub>	-2.433	-2.676	-4.406***	-4.331***	l(1)
RFDI <sub>t</sub>	-2.388	-4.762	-7.268***	-7.184***	l(1)
RER <sub>t</sub>	-0.953	-4.012***	-3.068**	-3.104*	I(0) / I(1)
MAC_STAB <sub>t</sub>	-2.930***	-3.131*	-8.490***	-8.480***	I(0) / I(1)
POL_STA <sub>t</sub>	-2.232	-2.037	-5.475***	-5.629***	l(1)
D <sub>t</sub>	-1.920	-1.875	-5.656***	-5.598***	l(1)

Note: The bandwidth was selected using the Newey-West method, ADF, Augmented Dickey-Fuller; \* significant at 10%, \*\*significant at 5%, \*\*\*significant at 1%.

The unit root test results in Table 1 show that the null hypothesis of the variable having unit root is rejected at 1 per cent at the first difference for most variables. None of the variables appear to be integrated at an order higher than one, and therefore justifies that the ARDL bounds procedure can be used here. Another advantage of using this approach is that it can be applied to the model regardless of whether the underlying variables are I(0) or I(1).

### 3.2 Cointegration results

Critical Value Bounds of the F-Statistic: intercept and no trend (Case II)						
К	10%		5%		1%	
8	I(0)	I(1)	I(0)	I(1)	I(0)	l(1)
	1.85	2.85	2.11	3.15	2.62	3.77
Calculated F-Statistic:						
F <sub>1p</sub> (RDPI RGDP, RINT, RCRE, MAC_STAB, RPUBI, RFDI, RER, D) 5.5188***					38***	
8	I(0)	I(1)	I(O)	I(1)	I(0)	l(1)
	1.85	2.85	2.11	3.15	2.62	3.77
Calculated F-Statistic:						
F <sub>Ip</sub> (R_DPI RGDP, RINT, RCRE, POL_STA, RPUBI, RFDI, RER, D)5.4903***				)3***		

### Table 2. Bound Tests—Cointegration tests for the existence of a long-run relationship

Source: Critical values are obtained from Narayan (2004a, b); Note: \*\*\*denotes statistical significance at the 1% level. K is the number of regressors.

	Dependent Variable = $PDI_t$		
	Model A	Model B	
	<i>P</i> =2	<i>P</i> =2	
Test Statistics			
F-Statistics	5.5188***	5.4903***	
R-Squared	0.957	0.973	
Note: n - the ontimal lag length	***significant at 1%		

Note: p = the optimal lag length, \*\*\*significant at 1%.

For both models in Table 2, the F-statistics is below the critical value bounds, therefore the null hypothesis of no long-run relationship exists is rejected. Results conclude that there is the existence of long-run relationships between all variables for model A at a 1 per cent significance level and Model B also at a 1 per cent significance level.

### 3.3 Results of the short-run dynamic model

We proceed to obtain the error correction representation of equation (1) for both macroeconomic stability and political stability in Model (A) and Model (B), respectively. Table 3 reports the short-run coefficient estimates obtained from the error correlation model (ECM) version of the ARDL model.

### Table 3. Short-run error correction estimates

	Model A	Model B	
	Dependent Variable = $RDPI_t$		
	Coefficient	Coefficient	
The short-run dynamics			
∆lnRDPI <sub>t−1</sub>	0.265***	0.833***	
$\Delta lnRGDP_t$	-0.951	0.299	
$\Delta RIR_t$	-0.006	-0.001	
$\Delta RIR_{t-1}$		0.045***	
$\Delta lnRCRE_t$	0.101	0.833***	
$\Delta lnRCRE_{t-1}$	-2.841***	-3.865***	
$\Delta MAC_STAB_t$	0.014		
$\Delta lnPOL_STA_t$		0.112	
$\Delta lnPOL_STA_{t-1}$		-0.431***	
$\Delta lnRPUBI_t$	0.128*	-0.029	
$\Delta lnRPUBI_{t-1}$		-0.297***	
$\Delta lnRFDI_t$	-0.161***	-0.031	
$\Delta lnRER_t$	0.984**	2.397***	
$\Delta lnRER_{t-1}$	1.443***		
$\Delta D_t$	0.782***	1.357***	
$\Delta D_{t-1}$	-0.294***		
$\Delta ECT_{t-1}$	-0.579***	-0.808***	
R-Squared	0.957	0.973	
n	31	31	

Note: \* significant at 10%, \*\*significant at 5%, \*\*\*significant at 1%; n – number of observations.

The estimation results show that private investment tends to negatively respond to output growth. In the short-run, the coefficient of real GDP has an insignificant and negative impact on private investment which does not follow the typical accelerator characteristics. This could be explained by the volatility in growth and the lagged pickup in private sector growth post-natural disasters.

In the short-run, private investment in the first period can stimulate new private investment in the second period. The results show that an increase in the lagged (by 1-year period) of private investment by 1 per cent increases private investment in the current period by 0.26 per cent, with the coefficient significant at 1 per cent significance level. This shows that good business investment sentiment supporting private sector growth in the previous year will stimulate the growth of current investment or future investment.

The user cost of capital, proxy by real interest rate has an insignificant negative impact on private investment, a smaller impact than the accelerator indicators. The negative impact is consistent with the user cost of capital theory which indicates that high interest rates discourage private investors to borrow from banks due to the high cost of capital (Jamaludin et al, 2015). Another likely explanation for this is that it may be due to the insignificant positive impact of credit availability that is likely to overshadow the short-run effect of the user cost of capital, therefore, may prevent the role of the interest rate channel in determining private investment. This can also be explained by the low saving rate in Vanuatu.

Credit to the private sector is found to have a positive but insignificant impact on private investment. This means that credit availability to the private sector through policies used over the years have not been able to spur the desired boost in private sector initiatives in Vanuatu. Further-more the increase in credit to the private sector, lagged by one period (1 year) leads to a decrease in private investment. This could be explained by Vanuatu's low financial depth, the low monetary policy transmission effect (Yang, Davis, Wang, Dunn and Wu, 2011) and almost 32 per cent of the adult population who remained unbanked. This is consistent with findings by Chand (2002) whose study on financial development and economic growth in Pacific island countries suggests that poor state of financial development constrained mobilisation of savings for growth.

The results show evidence that public investment crowds-in private investment confirming the hypothesis of complementarity between private and public investment. In the short run, a 1 per cent increase in government investment leads to a 0.12 per cent increase in private investment, significant at a 10 per cent significance level. When political stability is incorporated into the model, public sector investment tends to have a crowding-out effect on private investment in the short run. An explanation for this is that during a period of political instability, public funds directed towards the stability of government likely crowds-out resources and investment priorities to the private sector, thus creating periods of high uncertainty resulting in investors postponing their investment plans.

Foreign Direct Investments (FDIs) has a significant negative effect on private investment, meaning that FDIs crowds out domestic investment. In the short run, a 1 per cent increase in FDI leads to a reduction in private investment by 0.16 per cent, significant at 1 per cent significance level.

The real exchange rate has a significant and positive effect on private investment. In the short run, the depreciation of the RER by 1 per cent leads to a 0.98 per cent increase in private investment significant at a 5 per cent significance level. There could be two possible effects. The RER depreciation could raise the real cost of imported capital goods and adversely affect private investment. On the other hand, the RER deprecation raises the price of tradable goods (mainly major commodity exports or makes it relatively cheaper for foreign tourist visitors to spend in Vanuatu). This will help stimulate investment in the tradable (goods and services) sector. In this case, the short-term results showing an RER depreciation leads to a positive increase in private investment. This means that the positive impact on the tradable sector outweighs the negative impact on the non-tradable sector, the likely effect of the lower real income and wealth, and the higher cost of imported capital goods.

An increase in macroeconomic stability exerts an increase in private investment, although insignificant. This can be explained by the assumption that Vanuatu's GDP growth was less volatile in the decade leading to 2013 compared to the more volatile levels in the 1980s. This result is consistent with empirical findings of Greene and Villanueva (1991) and Jongwanich and Kohpaiboon (2008) that increases in uncertainty reduce private investment in developing countries.

Determinants of private sector growth in Vanuatu

Finally, consistent with expectation, the dummy variable measuring the structural reform (accounting for new flights to major tourist markets between 2004 and 2008) through Vanuatu's open sky policy and code-sharing agreements with other airlines, and the new entrant into the telecommunication sector (Digicel Vanuatu Ltd in 2006) and banking sector (Bred Bank Vanuatu Ltd in 2008) has a significant and positive impact on private investment. In the short run, the positive impact of the dummy variable capturing the periods of these new policy changes and structural reform is significant at the 1 per cent significance level.

Graphical views of domestic private investment and the selected nine determinants





8.8.

1985

1990

1995









Figure 5. Real public sector investment (InRPUBI)



Figure 6. Real foreign direct investment (InRFDI)

2000

2005

2010

2015



Figure 8. Macroeconomic stability



Figure 7. Real exchange rate (InRER)

Figure 9. Political stability (InPOL\_STAB)



2015



Figures 1 to 10 show the trends of the dependent and independent variables. Findings show that although these variables are important determinants of private domestic investment, the declining trend in public investment, macroeconomic stability (slowing GDP growth) and political stability (indicating an increase in uncertainty in the economy), and lack of reforms between 2009-2015 were primary reasons for the declining trend in domestic private investment during the same period. The unfavourable investment climate was also driven by other factors in play such as increased uncertainties surrounding the proposed changes in tax policy (proposed introduction of an income tax). The Anti-Money Laundering (AML) issues and the increased non-performing loans post-tropical cyclone Pam (in 2015) also contributed to the weak private sector growth.

### 3.4 Results of the long run ARDL model

### Table 4. Long-run error correction estimates

	Model A	Model B		
	Dependent Variable = RDPI <sub>t</sub>			
	Coefficient	Coefficient		
The long-run dynamics				
Constant	7.240	-44.613*		
lnRGDPt	-2.253	-1.299		
RIR <sub>t</sub>	-0.091**	-0.103***		
lnRCRE <sub>t</sub>	2.001	4.060***		
lnRPUBI <sub>t</sub>	0.197	0.293***		
lnRFDI <sub>t</sub>	-0.257*	-0.056		
lnRER <sub>t</sub>	1.548	5.581***		
MAC_STAB <sub>t</sub>	0.026			
lnPOL_STA <sub>t</sub>		1.268***		
D	1.428***	1.433***		

Note: \* significant at 10%, \*\*significant at 5%, \*\*\*significant at 1%.

Private investment tends to positively respond to output growth in the short run and long run. The model result for Vanuatu in Table 4 shows that increases in output or aggregate demand conditions have a negative impact on private investment in the long-run.

In the long run, the higher user cost of capital (interest rates) has a negative impact on private investment. Empirical findings show that in the long-run, a 1 per cent increase in the real cost of capital leads to a 0.09 per cent reduction in private investment, statistically significant at a 5 per cent significance level. This is associated with wide interest rate spreads in Vanuatu indicating high lending interest rates and low deposit rates.

Credit to the private sector is found to have an insignificant positive impact on private investment in the long-run. This means that credit availability to the private sector through policies used over the years have not been able to spur the desired boost in private sector initiatives in Vanuatu. Access to credit is cited by various reports<sup>3</sup> to be a major constraint faced by the private sector, so, another explanation for the insignificant coefficient could be related to the assumption that credit is scarcely given to potentially viable enterprises.

Public investment has a significant and positive impact on private investment in the long run. The long-run elasticity derived from the coefficient of public investment (RPUBI) suggests that a 1 per cent increase in government investment yields a 0.19 per cent increase in private investment, and the impact increases further when political stability is incorporated in the investment model. This means that the government's efforts at providing infrastructure (e.g. telecommunication, transport, and energy) complements private investment in Vanuatu.

In the long run, an increase in Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) in the previous period will have a negative (and significant) effect on domestic investment in the current period. The crowding-out effect could indicate that the high technological or skill gap between foreign and domestic firms is impeding the growth of domestic private investment firms.

The real exchange rate has a positive impact on private investment in the long run (although insignificant), however, it becomes significant when political stability is accounted for in the investment model. A 1 per cent depreciation of the RER, (i.e. an increase in RER) leads to an increase in private investment by 5.58 per cent, significant at 1 per cent significance level. The positive and significant coefficient corresponding to RER depreciation is associated with the nature of a particularly services-export-led growth economy where tourism is one of the source drivers of growth in Vanuatu.

Structural reforms also have a positive impact on private investment in the long run. The impact of structural reforms implementation (2004 to 2008) increases private investment by 1.42 per cent, significant at a 1 per cent significance level. This reinforces the need for structural reforms that create the potential for boosting investment and improving private sector growth.

### 4. Conclusion and Policy Implications

This study adds to existing studies done on private sector growth in Vanuatu. This empirical study uses an ARDL model to investigate the determinants of private sector investment in Vanuatu using annual time-series data from 1983-2015. Private sector investment growth was measured using private fixed capital formation as a proxy indicator. Results of this ARDL model show that despite their positive influence on domestic private investment, the declining trend (from 2009-2015) in public investment, macroeconomic stability (slowing GDP growth) and political stability (indicating an increase in uncertainty in the economy), and slow progress of reforms were likely primary reasons for the declining trend in domestic private investment. The impact of the AML issues, increased non-performing loans, and the impact of proposed changes in tax policies creating uncertainties were also obstacles to improvement in private sector growth.

The findings of the ARDL model show that in the short run, private domestic investment in the previous period (1-year lag) positively influence private domestic investment in the current period. Public investment is found to have a complementary effect on private investment and both real exchange rate and structural reforms have a positive impact on the investment climate in Vanuatu. In the long-run, consistent with the prediction of the neoclassical model, a higher user cost of capital (real interest rate) has a negative influence on private sector investment. When macroeconomic and political stability (proxies measuring the level of low uncertainties) is considered in the model, results show political stability, public investment, availability of financial resources in the economy, real exchange rate, and structural reforms are positive and significant determinants of private domestic investment in the long-run. The findings point to key policy outcomes that will sustain future private sector growth in Vanuatu.

These policies include offering more investment incentives, easing credit constraints, facilitating infrastructure development, reducing macroeconomic and political uncertainties, and offering reforms that boost and create a conducive investment climate for the private sector to grow.

The Vanuatu Government and its stakeholders may consider facilitating the ongoing support by the donors and development partners by considering the following policy recommendations which will favour private sector growth in the Vanuatu economy: (i) increase aggregate demand by stepping up the level of economic activity. Creating investment opportunities for the private sector to grow; (ii) reduce credit constraints by boosting the availability of funds for investment under adequate financial supervision and proper regulations. Reduce user cost of capital (real lending interest rate) to support private investment start-ups will be beneficial (Hallward-Driemerier and Steward, 2005). Increase access to finance results in higher employment growth in micro, small, and medium enterprises (Ayyagari et al, 2016). Higher financial development leads to higher levels of investment which can stimulate growth; (iii) enhance the complementary or crowding-in effect of public investment on private domestic investment through infrastructure development. Improving the access to transport, aviation, telecommunications, utilities, and markets translates to reducing the cost of doing business. This will offer long-term benefit and boost private domestic investment growth; (iv) Promote macroeconomic stability and political stability by reducing uncertainties (institutional, structural and political) in the economy. The private sector will be willing to invest if they are certain about the future return of their investment. To create a conducive investment climate, suitable legislation and availability of skilled and semi-skilled workers are essential (Cole, 1993); and (v) Develop structural reform in the economy and incentives to boost private sector investment (ADB, 2017; Preston, 2003).

### Notes and references

- Agenor, PJ, Montiel, P, 1996, *Development Macroeconomics*, Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Ang, JB, 2010, 'Determinants of private investment in Malaysia: What causes the postcrisis slumps?', *Contemporary Economic Policy*, vol. 28, no. 3.
- Asante, Y, 2000, 'Determinants of private investment behaviour', *African Economic Research Consortium*, Paper No. RP\_100.
- Asian Development Bank, 2009, 'Sustaining growth–a private sector assessment for Vanuatu', ADB.

Asian Development Bank, 2017, *Pacific Private Sector Development Initiative: A Decade of Reform – Annual Progress Report 2015–2016*, ADB, Philippines.

- Attefah, EK, Enning, DK, 2016, 'An OLS approach to modelling the determinants of private investment in Ghana', *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, vol. 6, no. 4.
- Auriol, E, 2014, 'Barriers to formal entrepreneurship in developing countries', *World Development Report*, Background Paper.
- Ayyagari, M, Juarros, P, Peria, MSM and Singh, S, 2016, 'Access to finance and job growth firm-level evidence across developing countries', *World Bank Group*, Policy Research Working Paper 6704.
- Batu, MM, 2016, 'Determinants of private investment: A systematic review', *International Journal of Economics, Finance and Management Sciences*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 52–6.
- Beck, T, Demirguc-Kunt, A, Peria, MSM, 2008, 'Bank financing for SMEs around the world drivers, obstacles, business models and lending practices, *World Bank Group*, Policy Research Working Paper 4785.
- Beddies, C, 1999, 'Investment, capital accumulation and growth: Some evidence from Gambia: 1964–1998', *IMF Working Paper 99/117.*
- Bouton, L and Sumlinski, MA, 2000, 'Trends in private investment in developing countries: statistics for 1970–1998', *World Bank Publication*s, The World Bank, no. 13986.
- Brunetti, A, Kisunko, G and Weder, B, 1998, 'Credibility of rules and economic growth: Evidence from a worldwide survey of the private sector', *The World Bank Economic Review*, vol. 12, no.3, pp. 353–84.
- Chand, S, 2002, 'Financial sector development and economic growth in Pacific island countries', *Pacific Economic Bulletin*, vol. 17, no. 2.
- Cole, RV, 1993, 'Economic development in the South Pacific promoting the private sector', *World Development*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 233-45.
- Coutinho, R and Gallo, G, 1991, 'Do public and private investments stand in each other's way?', *World Development Report Background Paper*, Mimeo. World Bank.
- Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, DFAT, 2014, *The Role of the Private Sector in Supporting Economic Growth and Reducing Poverty in the Indo-Pacific Region*, DFAT.
- Duncan, R and Nakagawa, H, 2008, *Obstacles to Economic Growth in Six Pacific Island Countries*, World Bank.
- Duncan, R, 2016, 'Sources of growth spurts in Pacific island economies', *Asia and the Pacific Policy Studie*s, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 351–65.
- Erenburg, SJ, 1993, 'The real effects of public investment on private investment', *Applied Economics*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 831–7.
- Feeny, S, Iamsiraroj, S and Mcgillivray, M, 2011, *Growth and Foreign Direct Investment in the Pacific Island Countries*, Alfred Deakin Research Institute, Deakin University.
- Frimpong, JM and Marbuah, G, 2010, 'The determinants of private sector investment in Ghana: An ARDL approach', *European Journal of Social Sciences*, vol. 15, no. 2.
- Giles, D, 2013, 'ARDL Models Part II Bounds Tests', Econometrics Beat: Dave Giles' Blog

Determinants of private sector growth in Vanuatu

- Greene, J and Villanueva, D, 1991, 'Private investment in developing countries: An empirical analysis', *IMF Staff Papers*, vol. 38. no. 1, pp. 33–58.
- Hallward-Drienmeier, M and Stewart, D, 2004, How do investment climate conditions vary across countries, regions and types of firms? *World Development Report: A Better Investment Climate for Everyone*, DECWD.
- Hayward-Jones, J, 2014, Reflections on constraints to growth in Pacific island countries, *Development Policy Blog.*
- Hausmann, R, Rodrik, D and Velasco, A, 2005, *Growth Diagnostics*, John F. Kennedy School of Government, Harvard University, Cambridge.
- Herandez-Cata, E, 2000, 'Raising growth and investment in Sub-Sahara Africa: What can be done?', *Policy Discussion Paper: PDP/00/4*, International Monetary Fund, Washington DC.
- Hood, R, 2007, 'Measuring performance in private sector development', *Asian Development Bank*, Philippines.
- Huang, Y, 2006, *Private Investment and Financial Development in a Globalised World*, University of Bristol, Bristol.
- Jamaludin, F, Klyuev, V and Serechetapongse, A, 2015, 'What drives interest rates spreads in Pacific island countries? An empirical investigation', *IMF Working Paper*, WP/15/96.
- Jayaraman, TK, 1996, 'Private investment and macroeconomic environment in the South Pacific island countries: A cross-country analysis', *Asian Development Bank.*
- Jayaraman, TK and Seruvatu, E, 2001, *Determinants of Private Investment in Fiji*, Reserve Bank of Fiji Working Paper, 2001/02.
- Jayaraman, TK, 2004, Coping with Vulnerability by Building Economic Resilience: The Case of Vanuatu
- Jongwanich, J and Kohpaiboon, A, 2008, 'Private investment: Trends and determinants in Thailand', *World Development*, vol. 36, no. 10, pp. 1709–24.
- Jorgenson, D, 1967, 'Determinants of investment behaviour', *National Bureau of Economic Research*, pp. 129–75.
- Khan, MS and Kumar, MS, 2008, Public and private investment and the growth process in developing countries, *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, University of Oxford.
- Khan, S and Khan, MA, 2007, 'What determines private investment? The case of Pakistan', *PIDE Working Papers*, Pakistan Institute of Development Economics.
- Khan, MS and Reinhart, CM, 1990, 'Private investment and economic growth in developing countries', *World Development*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 19–27.
- Kolade, AR, 2014, 'Macroeconomic determinants of private sector investment–an ARDL approach: Evidence from Nigeria', *Global Advanced Research Journal of Management and Business Studies*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 82–89.
- Kehinde, AO, Felix, AO and Adedamola, FA, 2012, 'The determinants of domestic private investment in Nigeria', *IOSR Journal of Humanities and Social Science (JHSS)*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 46–54.
- Mohsen, AS, 2015, *The Relationship Between Trade Openness and Investment in Syria*, University Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia.
- Moustain, FA, 2004, *Does Financial Development Cause Economic Growth? An Empirical Investigation Drawing on the Moroccan Experience*, Lancaster University Management School working Paper 20014/045
- Ndikumana, L, 2000, 'Financial determinants of domestic investment in Sub-Saharan Africa', *World Development*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 381-400.
- Njuru, SG, Ombuki, C, Wawire, N and Okeri, S, 2013, 'Taxation and private investment: Evidence for Kenya', *International Journal of Economics and Management Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 11, pp. 78–93.
- Olowofeso, EO, Adeleke, AO and Udoji, AO, 2015, 'Impact of private sector credit on economic growth in Nigeria', *CBN Journal of Applied Statistics*, vol. 6, no. 2.
- Ouattara, B, 2014, Modelling the long run determinants of private investment in Senegal, *CREDIT Research Paper*, No. 04/05.
- 20 Joint Policy Research Working Paper #17

- Pesaran, MH and Shin, Y, 1999, *An Autoregressive Distributed Lag Modelling Approach to Cointegration Analysis, Econometrics and Economic Theory in the 20<sup>th</sup> Century, Chapter 11, Cambridge University Press.*
- Pesaran, MH, Shin, Y and Smith, RJ, 2001, 'Bounds testing approaches to the analysis of level relationships', *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, vol. 16, pp. 289-326.
- Preston, J, 2003, *Investment Climate Reform–Competition Policy and Economic Development: Some Country Experience*, Department for International Development, UK.
- Rahman, S, 1999, *Impact of Institutional Uncertainty on Private Investment: An Empirical Study in Select East and South Asian Countries*, KDI School of International Policy and Management.
- Serven, L and Solimano, A, 1990, *Private Investment and Macroeconomic Adjustment: Theory, Country Experience and Policy Implications*, World Bank, Washington, DC.
- Sharma, P., Gounder, N., 2013, Supply side obstacles to financing the private sector: Empirical evidence from a small island developing state', *The Journal of Pacific Studies*, vol. 33, no. 1.
- Sisay, AM, 2011, *The Dynamic Links Between Investment, Trade and Growth: Evidence from Ethiopia*, University of Kent, UK.
- Vanuatu National Statistics Office, 2016, *2016 Mini National Census Report*, Government of Vanuatu.
- Wai, UT and Wong, C, 1982, 'Determinants of private investment in developing countries', *The Journal of Development Studies*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 19–36.
- Washington, DC, 'Cross-Country Empirical Investigation', *Applied Economics*, vol. 32, pp. 1819–29.
- World Bank, 2020, Work Bank data, Retrieved from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NE.GDI.TOTL.ZS.
- Yang, Y, Davis, M, Wang, S, Dunn, J and Wu, Y, 2011, 'Monetary policy transmission mechanisms in Pacific island countries', *IMF Working Paper*, Asia and Pacific Department.
- Yan, Y, Singh, SR, Chen, H and Singh, B, 2012, *The Pacific Speed of Growth: How Fast Can It Be and What Determines It?*, International Monetary Fund, University of the South Pacific.

### Notes

- 1 Vanuatu National Statistics Office (VNSO).
- 2 Explanatory variables include real gross domestic product, real user cost of capital, real bank credit to the private sector, real public investment, real foreign direct investment, real exchange rate, macroeconomic stability, political stability and a dummy variable representing structural reform.
- 3 Vanuatu SME survey (2016).

### **GRIFFITH ASIA INSTITUTE**

Griffith University Nathan campus Nathan Queensland 4111, Australia

> Phone: +61 7 3735 3730 Email: gai@griffith.edu.au

### griffith.edu.au/asia-institute